2008

Western Land and Development LC, East Maples Investment, LLC vs. Jordan Foothills, LLC, Walter T. Keane : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

The court has jurisdiction under Utah Code section 78A-4-103(2)(j).

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES AND STANDARDS OF REVIEW

On October 25, 2006, Jordan Foothills entered into an option agreement to purchase from Western Land over 51 acres of real property in West Jordan (the City). Because the City had not approved a final plat, the option agreement contemplated two scenarios. First, if the final plat approved by the City contained no material changes to a proposed plat, then Jordan Foothills was required either to purchase the property or to forfeit to Western Land its \$1.5 million option payment. Second, if the final plat contained material changes, then Jordan Foothills had “the right to approve the new Final Plat as a condition precedent to closing.” (R. 482 (emphasis added).) If Jordan Foothills did not approve the final plat, then Western Land had to return the principal amount of the \$1.5 million option payment. Western Land would retain the time-value of the option payment, which it was entitled to use pending close of the purchase or refund of the option payment. Using an 8% interest rate, the value of the use of the money amounted to nearly \$10,000 per month.

As the trial court later found, the final plat contained material changes. (R. 667.) This involved the second scenario. Exercising the choice given it by the agreement, Jordan Foothills rejected the final plat and sought return of the principal amount of its \$1.5 million deposit. Western Land refused.

Western Land brought suit, alleging that Jordan Foothills had an unconditional obligation to purchase the property because Jordan Foothills had failed to object to the

changes months before the final plat received the City's approval. After a bench trial, the trial court interpreted the language in the option agreement that provides to Jordan Foothills "the right to approve the new Final Plat as a condition precedent to closing," as allowing the condition precedent to be satisfied months before approval of the final plat. (R. 482.) The trial court then ruled that Jordan Foothills' rejection of the final plat after the City had approved the final plat was ineffective.

Issue 1: Whether the option agreement provides Jordan Foothills the right to refuse to purchase the property only after the City approved the final plat. This issue was preserved at R. 677-78; 681; 446-47.

Standard of Review: This court reviews a trial court's interpretation of a contract for correctness. Green River Canal Co. v. Thayn, 2003 UT 50, ¶16, 84 P.3d 1134.

Issue 2: Whether changes in the final plat that the trial court found to be material, but "not sufficiently material," triggered Jordan Foothills' right to reject the final plat and withdraw from the agreement. This issue was preserved at R. 667; 681; 440-47.

Standard of Review: This court reviews the trial court's interpretation of a contract for correctness. Green River Canal Co., 2003 UT 50 at ¶16.

Issue 3: Whether Mr. Glezos was an agent of Jordan Foothills authorized to exercise Jordan Foothills' contractual right to approve the final plat under the option agreement. This issue was preserved at R. 678-81; 769 at 100, 134.

Standard of Review: The issue of authority presents a mixed question of law and fact. The court grants significant deference to "the trial court's application of the equitable doctrines of . . . authority to the facts of this case." Glew v. Ohio Sav. Bank, 2007 UT 56, ¶19, 181 P.3d 791.

DETERMINATIVE PROVISIONS

None.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Nature of the Case and Course of Proceedings

This case involves an option agreement entitling Jordan Foothills to purchase real property from Western Land contingent upon certain conditions. The dispute centers around whether Jordan Foothills had the right to refuse to purchase the property after the City approved a final plat containing material changes.

On September 27, 2007, Western Land & Development, LC and East Maples Investment LLC (collectively “Western Land”), filed a complaint and motion for preliminary injunction against Jordan Foothills.¹ (R. 1; 63.) Western Land sought a declaratory judgment that Jordan Foothills was in breach of its obligations under an option agreement. (R. 66.) Western Land asserted that because Jordan Foothills had not made a second option payment of nearly \$4 million, Jordan Foothills was in breach and Western Land was therefore entitled to keep as liquidated damages the principal amount of Jordan Foothills’ \$1.5 million first option payment. (R. 66; 72.) Western Land also sought to quiet title to the property and reconveyance of the trust deed securing Jordan Foothills’ interest in the property. (R. 66-67.)

A bench trial was held on December 6 and 7, 2007. (R. 769-70.) The trial court rendered judgment in favor of Western Land on all issues. (R. 701.) Jordan Foothills filed a timely notice of appeal. (R. 721.)

¹ Jordan Foothills’ prior counsel, Walter Keane, was also listed as a defendant in his capacity as trustee of the trust deed at issue in the dispute. (R. 1, 703.) The trial court’s order dismissed Mr. Keane from the suit. (R. 703.)

II. Statement of Facts

Defendant Jordan Foothills is an entity formed by Glen Pettit, a home builder and real estate developer. (R. 662.) One plaintiff, East Maples Investment, owned just over 51 acres of real property in West Jordan, Utah, and the other plaintiff, Western Land & Development, held the right to develop and purchase that property. (R. 662.)

A. The Option Agreement

In October 2006, Jordan Foothills and Western Land negotiated an option agreement for the possible purchase of the property owned by East Maples Investment. (R. 280-313; 662.) Because the City had not yet approved a final plat, Jordan Foothills would agree only to a contract that provided Jordan Foothills the right to reject the deal if Jordan Foothills disapproved of the final plat. (R. 595.) Western Land—drafter of the option agreement—agreed to this demand, and inserted into the option agreement section 4(b), which provides that Jordan Foothills “shall have the right to approve the new Final Plat as a condition precedent to closing on this transaction.”² (R. 284.) If Jordan Foothills did not approve the final plat, then Western Land had to return to Jordan Foothills “all consideration” Jordan Foothills had paid to date. (R. 284.)

With this provision in place, the parties signed the option agreement on October 25, 2006. The option agreement required Jordan Foothills to make “option payments” in order to secure its right to purchase the property some time after final plat approval.

² The full text of section 4(b) is as follows: “If in the plating process, the City makes changes in the [proposed plan, then Jordan Foothills] shall have the right to approve the new Final Plat as a condition precedent to closing on this transaction. Should closing not occur as a result of [Western Land’s] inability to obtain final plat approval, as stated herein, or final plat approval is obtained of a design which has not been approved of by [Jordan Foothills], all consideration, including but not limited to First Option Payments, . . . paid under this Agreement shall be fully refunded.” (R. 284.)

(R. 282-83.) In return for the option payments, a trust deed was recorded in favor of Jordan Foothills to secure its interest in the property. (R. 6.) The trust deed was necessary because the option payments were made directly to Western Land, not placed in escrow, and therefore Western Land could use the money until closing on the property or return of the principal. (R. 282.)

On October 27, 2006, Jordan Foothills made the first option payment in the amount of \$1.5 million. (R. 281; 666.) While Jordan Foothills' interest in the \$1.5 million was secured by the trust deed, Jordan Foothills had no right to any accrued interest stemming from the \$1.5 million while it was controlled by Western Land, which, at an 8% interest rate, amounted to approximately \$10,000 each month.

The option agreement contemplated that the City would approve the final plat "on or about January 15, 2007." (R. 284.) For this reason, the second option payment of approximately \$4 million was due on the later of two dates: (i) January 15, 2007, or (ii) five business days following the receipt of the final plat from the City. (R. 282.) Western Land did not secure a final plat from the City until months later, on August 8, 2007. (R. 669.) Between the first option payment on October 27, 2006, and the final plat approval on August 8, 2007, the time-value of the \$1.5 million was approximately \$100,000.

B. The Final Plat

The trial court specifically found that the City had required “material changes to the design of the plat” including (i) “one intersection with 6400 West be removed and replaced with a cul-de-sac” and (ii) “a rectangular reconfiguration of streets in Phase 2.” (R. 667; 769 at 17.) The trial court also found that other changes were necessary to accommodate these two design changes.³ (R. 667.) The trial court therefore found the factual premise to Jordan Foothills’ contractual right to approve or disapprove of the final plat, a condition precedent to closing.

After the City approved a plat as “final,” Western Land hand-delivered to Mr. Pettit a copy of the final plat and a letter requesting that Jordan Foothills pay the second option payment of \$3,975,000.00 within five business days. (R. 282; 318; 669.) After reviewing the final plat, Mr. Pettit instead invoked section 4(b) of the option agreement and within five days (i) rejected the final plat with its material design changes; and (ii) requested a refund of the principal amount of the \$1.5 million first option payment. (R. 320, 339; 667; 769 at 17.)

In response, Western Land sent Jordan Foothills a notice asserting that Jordan Foothills’ rights under the option agreement had terminated because Jordan Foothills had breached the agreement by failing to make the second option payment. Western Land also contended that it was entitled to keep the \$1.5 million (principal and interest) and to have Jordan Foothills release the trust deed securing Jordan Foothills’ interest. (R. 5; 54-

³ Evidence at trial demonstrated that the following other changes were made: changes to the fencing plan, the entry monument, trails, retaining walls, and pedestrian path. (R. 769 at 20, 29, 139-43.) Additionally, some lots were removed and the City required a notation on the plat stating that notice of collapsible soils must be made to each purchaser. (R. 769 at 20, 142.)

55.) On September 7, 2007, Jordan Foothills filed a Notice of Default and Election to Sell the property under the trust deed due to Western Land's refusal to refund the principal amount of its \$1.5 million first option payment. (R. 6; 198.)

C. The Relationship Between Jordan Foothills and Mr. Glezos

The following facts relate only to an alternative ground to reverse the judgment of the trial court. The primary ground is that the trial court erred in interpreting the option agreement as requiring Jordan Foothills to reject or accept the final plat before the City had approved the final plat. The alternative ground is that the trial court erred in ruling that Steve Glezos was an agent of Jordan Foothills and, prior to the City's approval of a plat as final, had approved the design changes ultimately required by the City.

During negotiations of the option contract, Western Land was represented by Lee Conant and Terry Diehl, principals of Western Land. (R. 521.) Mr. Pettit, principal of Jordan Foothills, met with Western Land, executed the option agreement, and eventually sought to terminate the agreement because Jordan Foothills did not approve the final plat. (R. 295; 320.) In an attempt to avoid the impact of section 4(b)—which Western Land drafted—Western Land argued in the trial court that Steve Glezos—a friend of Mr. Pettit who is not affiliated with Jordan Foothills—had approved certain design changes on behalf of Jordan Foothills prior to the City's approval of the final plat and thereby had eliminated Jordan Foothills' rights under section 4(b). (R. 667.) In essence, Western Land argued that Mr. Glezos acted as an agent for Jordan Foothills and had exercised its rights under section 4(b), even though (i) the option agreement provides that all notices to Jordan Foothills had to be provided to Mr. Pettit and (ii) after the City approved the final plat, Western Land, in fact, sent a copy of the final plat to Mr. Pettit. (R. 289; 318; 669.)

In the letter transmitting a copy of the final plat, Western Land did not state that the final plat had already been approved by Jordan Foothills, but stated only that the approvals “as defined in the [option agreement] were granted by the West Jordan City Council on August 8, 2007.” (R. 318.)

The trial court accepted both of Western Land’s arguments. First, the trial court ruled that section 4(b) did not require Jordan Foothills’ approval after the City approved the final plat. (R. 678.) Second, the trial court ruled that Mr. Glezos acted as the agent of Jordan Foothills for purposes of exercising Jordan Foothills’ rights under section 4(b). (R. 678-80.) As set forth below, Jordan Foothills challenges both rulings.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court interpreted section 4(b) of the option agreement as unambiguously requiring satisfaction of a condition precedent before the condition could be satisfied. Section 4(b) provides that Jordan Foothills “shall have the right to approve the new Final Plat as a condition precedent to closing on this transaction.”⁴ (R. 284.) Even though Jordan Foothills rejected the final plat just after the City approved a plat as the final one, the trial court ruled that this rejection was ineffective because Jordan Foothills should have voiced its objection months earlier. Instead, the trial court ruled that Jordan Foothills had satisfied the condition precedent months before the City approved the final plat when Steve Glezos—a friend of Jordan Foothills’ authorized representative, Glen Pettit—approved certain changes, but not the final plat.

The trial court’s interpretation of the option agreement warrants reversal on three separate grounds. First, section 4(b) means what its plain language says: Jordan Foothills’ approval of the final plat—which did not exist until the City approved a plat as final—was a condition precedent to closing. The trial court therefore erred in concluding that the condition precedent was satisfied, as Jordan Foothills rejected the final plat only days after City approval.

Second, at the very least section 4(b) is ambiguous. The trial court appears to have read the “condition precedent” sentence in section 4(b) as entirely separate from the

⁴ The full text of section 4(b) is as follows: “If in the plating process, the City makes changes in the [proposed plat, then Jordan Foothills] shall have the right to approve the new Final Plat as a condition precedent to closing on this transaction. Should closing not occur as a result of [Western Land’s] inability to obtain final plat approval, as stated herein, or final plat approval is obtained of a design which has not been approved of by [Jordan Foothills], all consideration, including but not limited to First Option Payments, . . . paid under this Agreement shall be fully refunded.” (R. 284.)

next sentence concerning the return of the \$1.5 million first option payment. The first sentence declares that Jordan Foothills’ approval of the final plat is a condition precedent to closing. The second sentence states that if closing does not occur because “final plat approval is obtained of a design which has not been approved of by Buyer, all consideration . . . paid under this Agreement shall be fully refunded.” (R. 284.)

The trial court interpreted the second sentence as permitting Western Land to keep the \$1.5 million first option payment because Steve Gelzos—who is not specified as the authorized representative of Jordan Foothills under the agreement—had expressed approval for certain design changes prior to the City’s approval of a plat as final. On the trial court’s interpretation, it was the approval of a design before the City’s action created a “Final Plat”—instead of an approval of the final plat after the City’s action—which extinguished Jordan Foothills’ right to a refund of the \$1.5 million option payment.

The trial court’s interpretation is flawed. Assuming the trial court’s interpretation of the second sentence concerning a refund of consideration is reasonable, then section 4(b) is ambiguous. One reasonable interpretation—and in Jordan Foothills’ view the only reasonable interpretation—is to read the second “refund of consideration” sentence in light of the first “condition precedent” sentence to conclude that section 4(b) means that if Jordan Foothills rejects the final plat, created by the City’s approval, then (i) the condition precedent not satisfied and (ii) Jordan Foothills is entitled to a refund of the principal amount of its \$1.5 million. The other interpretation—the one adopted by the trial court—is to read the first sentence in light of the second sentence to conclude that if Jordan Foothills expresses approval for design changes at any point in the process, then

(i) the condition precedent satisfied and (ii) Jordan Foothills has thereby forfeited its right to a refund after the City approves the final plat.

To the extent that these are both reasonable interpretations of section 4(b), the trial court erred in ruling that the unambiguous language of section 4(b) supports only the second interpretation. And because (i) the only parole evidence in the record supports the first interpretation and (ii) any ambiguity should be construed against Western Land as drafter of the option agreement, this error was not harmless. This court should reverse.

Third, even assuming the trial court was correct in interpreting section 4(b) to require approval only of design changes, not the final plat itself, the condition precedent was not satisfied. Under section 4(b), only Jordan Foothills can satisfy the condition precedent, and under the option agreement only Glen Pettit is the authorized representative of Jordan Foothills. However, the trial court ruled that Jordan Foothills approved certain design changes when Steve Glezos—a friend of Mr. Pettit—approved them. As demonstrated below, the trial court erred in concluding that Mr. Glezos acted as an agent for Jordan Foothills. Mr. Glezos lacked express, apparent, and implied authority to act on behalf of Jordan Foothills, and therefore, anything Mr. Glezos may have said could not bind Jordan Foothills.

This court should reverse on one of three grounds. First, the plain language of section 4(b) provides Jordan Foothills the right to cancel the agreement if it disapproves of the final plat, which it did. Second, to the extent section 4(b) is ambiguous, the trial court erred in construing it against Jordan Foothills. Finally, even if section 4(b) is construed against Jordan Foothills, the condition precedent was never satisfied because Mr. Glezos was not an agent for Jordan Foothills.

ARGUMENT

I. Jordan Foothills Did Not Breach the Agreement, and Instead Exercised Its Contractual Right to Cancel the Agreement and is Entitled to a Refund of the Principal Amount of Its \$1.5 Million First Option Payment

The trial court erred in concluding that Jordan Foothills (i) failed to terminate the option agreement by rejecting the final plat and (ii) thereby forfeited its right to a refund of the principal amount of its \$1.5 million first option payment. To demonstrate the trial court's error, Jordan Foothills provides some context.

In negotiating the option agreement, Jordan Foothills insisted that any agreement contain a provision allowing Jordan Foothills to refuse to purchase the property if Jordan Foothills rejected the final plat approved by the City. Western Land agreed to this demand. And when Western Land drafted the option agreement, it included section 4(b), which provides that Jordan Foothills "shall have the right to approve the new Final Plat as a condition precedent to closing on this transaction." (R. 284.)

In the event Jordan Foothills rejected the final plat, the agreement provided protection for both parties. On the one hand, Jordan Foothills was entitled to a refund of the principal amount of its \$1.5 million first option payment. (Id.) On the other hand, Western Land was entitled to keep the value of its use of the \$1.5 million, which amounted to approximately \$10,000 per month. (Id.) The agreement contemplated that Western Land would obtain approval of the final plat by January 15, 2007, meaning Western Land would be able to use the \$1.5 million for only a few months before Jordan Foothills had to disapprove or approve the final plat. (Id.)

In fact, Western Land received value for its use the \$1.5 million for nearly a year because Western Land did not obtain the City's approval of the final plat until August 8,

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