2008

Western Land & Development v. Jordan Foothills, LLC : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Jordan Foothills approved the two design changes required by West Jordan City at the preliminary plat stage. Jordan Foothills's approval was communicated to Western Land by its agent, Glezos. The Option Agreement did not preclude Jordan Foothills from approving the two design changes until after the Final Plat was approved by the City. Instead, the plain language of the agreement contemplated that the City may require design changes during the platting process which Jordan Foothills would have the right to approve before the Final Plat was submitted to and approved by the City.

Jordan Foothills's argument that it could not approve changes to the design of the Final Plat until the Final Plat was approved by the City also ignores Jordan Foothills's own performance under the agreement. When during the platting process Western Land requested that Jordan Foothills approve the two design changes requested by the City, Jordan Foothills did so and did not take the position that it could not approve the design changes until the Final Plat was approved.

Jordan Foothills's argument also defies common sense. The Option Agreement was a multi-million dollar contract. It makes no sense that Western Land would have to pursue the plat approval process in the dark not knowing what changes Jordan Foothills would approve. It also makes no sense that if Jordan Foothills was not willing to approve

changes required by the City during the platting process, Jordan Foothills would nevertheless have to wait until after the Final Plat was approved to disapprove the changes, during which time Western Land would be entitled to retain the \$1.5 million First Option Payment.

Moreover, even if it is incorrectly assumed for argument that the Option Agreement did preclude Jordan Foothills from approving the two design changes before the Final Plat was approved by the City, Jordan Foothills, through Glezos, did, in fact, approve the two design changes after the Final Plat was approved. The only objection Jordan Foothills voiced to the Final Plat was the collapsible soils note required by the City, which did not constitute a design change that Jordan Foothills was entitled to approve.

The trial court's findings that Glezos had express, implied and apparent authority to communicate with Western Land concerning the approval process are not clearly erroneous, but are amply supported by the evidence. Initially, Jordan Foothills has failed to marshal the evidence supporting the trial court's findings. This Court will, in its discretion, refuse to disturb those findings.

Further, the evidence established that Pettit established a course of dealing whereby Jordan Foothills communicated with Western Land through Glezos. Pettit instructed Western Land to deal with Glezos on behalf of Jordan Foothills, Pettit

instructed Glezos to communicate with Western Land, Pettit knew that Glezos was communicating with Western Land concerning the approval process on behalf of Jordan Foothills, and, in fact, Pettit agreed to compensate Glezos handsomely for his efforts in assisting Jordan Foothills in the transaction.

Glezos had actual authority which consists of express and implied authority, and may be implied from the words and conduct of the parties and the facts and circumstances attending the transaction or inferred from a course of dealing between the principal and agent. Glezos also had apparent authority based upon Pettit's conduct, including his direction that Western Land deal with Glezos on behalf of Jordan Foothills and his establishment of a course of dealing with Western Land whereby all communications were through Glezos. As the trial court found, Pettit was aware of Glezos's efforts on behalf of Jordan Foothills and not only acquiesced in such conduct, but approved it.

In any event, the two design changes required by the City which Jordan Foothills had the right to approve were not material and did not give Jordan Foothills the right to terminate the agreement because those design changes were beneficial to Jordan Foothills and Jordan Foothills presented no contrary evidence.

Western Land should be awarded its reasonable attorneys' fees and costs on appeal pursuant to the second paragraph 11 of the Option Agreement.

VI.

ARGUMENT

A. **JORDAN FOOTHILLS APPROVED THE TWO DESIGN CHANGES TO THE PRELIMINARY PLAT AND THEREFORE DEFAULTED UNDER THE OPTION AGREEMENT BY FAILING TO MAKE THE SECOND OPTION PAYMENT.**

The trial court correctly found that the City of West Jordan only required two design changes from the conceptual plat map attached as Exhibit D to the Option Agreement. The first design change was that one intersection with 6400 West was to be removed and replaced with a cul-de-sac because the City believed that the two planned intersections with 6400 West were too close together. The City also requested a rectangular reconfiguration of the streets in Phase II. [SOF No. 18.] The evidence at trial established that these changes were actually beneficial to Jordan Foothills. [SOF No. 20.] The evidence established, and the trial court found, that Pettit, through Glezos, approved these changes on behalf of Jordan Foothills. [SOF Nos. 20 and 21.] Indeed, Pettit learned that there would be additional cul-de-sac lots at the coffee shop meeting before the Option Agreement was even executed. [R. 769, pp. 82-83.] There were no other design changes in the Final Plat. [*Id.*]

After the City approved the Final Plat on August 8, 2007, Jordan Foothills purported to terminate the Option Agreement and demanded a refund of its First Option Payment on the ground that the City required a note concerning collapsible soils to be

included on the plat. And, at trial, the principal argument raised by Jordan Foothills was that the collapsible soils note was a design change to the plat which entitled Jordan Foothills to a refund of the First Option Payment. However, the evidence was that the note was not a design change, and the trial court so found. [SOF No. 28.]⁵

With new counsel, Jordan Foothills has changed the focus of its argument on appeal. Jordan Foothills has jettisoned its collapsible soils argument and does not challenge the trial court's findings in that regard. Instead, Jordan Foothills only argues that as a matter of law the Option Agreement precluded it from approving the Final Plat until the Final Plat was approved by West Jordan City and that when the Final Plat was approved by the City Jordan Foothills promptly terminated the contract and demanded a refund of its First Option Payment. This argument ignores the plain language of the Option Agreement, Jordan Foothills's own performance under the agreement, and common sense.

First, Jordan Foothills's argument ignores the plain language of the agreement. Jordan Foothills paid the First Option Payment as consideration for the grant of the option. The payment was not refundable except as specifically provided in the agreement. [Ex. P-1, ¶¶ 2 and 11.] Attached as Exhibit D to the Option Agreement was

⁵ In addition, Jordan Foothills agreed to purchase the Property "As Is," and Jordan Foothills knew of the collapsible soils before the Option Agreement was executed.

a plat showing the design of a 146 lot subdivision of the Property. The agreement provided that in the event the City required changes in the plan shown on Exhibit D during the platting process, then Jordan Foothills had the right to approve the new Final Plat. Jordan Foothills was only entitled to a refund of its First Option Payment if Western Land was unable to obtain plat approval “or Final Plat approval is obtained of a design which has not been approved of by Buyer. . . .”

Paragraph 4(b) of the Option Agreement provided in this regard:

If *in the platting process*, the City makes changes in the Plan as shown in Exhibit D, [Jordan Foothills] shall have the right to approve the new Final Plat as a condition precedent to Closing on this transaction. Should Closing not occur as a result of [Western Land’s] inability to obtain final plat approval, as stated herein, *or final plat approval is obtained of a design not approved of by [Jordan Foothills]*, all consideration paid under this Agreement shall be fully refunded. [Emphasis added]

Thus, the Option Agreement contemplated that the City may require design changes during the platting process from the design set forth in Exhibit D to the Option Agreement and gave Jordan Foothills the right to approve such changes. There is nothing in the language of paragraph 4(b) that prevented Jordan Foothills from approving design changes required by the City in the platting process before the Final Plat was actually submitted and approved.

Jordan Foothills myopically focuses on only one sentence of this paragraph giving Jordan Foothills the right to approve the new Final Plat and ignores the rest of the

paragraph. Initially, this sentence does not preclude approval of design changes during the platting process. Moreover, it is the language of the next sentence which governs the only circumstances under which Jordan Foothills would be entitled to a refund of the First Option Payment. Of course, this Court must interpret the agreement as a whole and harmonize its provisions, if possible. *LDS Hosp. v. Capitol Life Ins.*, 765 P.2d 857, 858 (Utah 1988) (“[I]t is axiomatic that a contract should be interpreted so as to harmonize all of its provisions and all of its terms, which terms should be given effect if it is possible to do so.”). The language of the next sentence of paragraph 4(b) plainly contemplates that Jordan Foothills would approve design changes *before* the Final Plat was submitted to the City for approval by providing “if Final Plat approval *is* obtained of a design *which has not been approved of* by Buyer” the First Option Payment would be refunded.[Emphasis added] The use of the past tense phrase “has not been approved” plainly connotes that Jordan Foothills’s approval of the design changes could occur before approval of the Final Plat by the City “is” obtained.

That, of course, is exactly what occurred here. At the preliminary plat stage, the City required two design changes. That is the stage where design changes are typically required. Jordan Foothills approved those design changes. There were no design changes from the preliminary plat to the Final Plat. Therefore, Jordan Foothills approved the design of the Final Plat, as the trial court found.

Second, Jordan Foothills's misinterpretation of the Option Agreement ignores its own performance under the agreement. Once more, the evidence at trial established, and the trial court found, that Pettit, through Glezos, approved the two design changes at the preliminary plat stage. Contrary to the position it now urges, Jordan Foothills did not take the position at that time that it could not and would not approve the design changes until the Final Plat was approved by the City. A contract should be interpreted "by considering the contract language and the course of dealings between and conduct of the parties." *PDQ Lube Center, Inc. v. Huber*, 949 P.2d 792, 798 (Utah App. 1997).

Third, Jordan Foothills's strategic interpretation of the Option Agreement does not comport with common sense. In interpreting a contract, a court should avoid a construction which would lead to absurd results. *Alpha Partners, Inc. v. Transamerica Investment Management, L.L.C.*, 2006 UT App. 331, § 23, 153 P.3d 714. As the Option Agreement contemplates, changes in design of a plat are typically required by a City "in the platting process," not at the time a final plat is approved. The design of the final plat is typically the design of the approved preliminary plat, as in the present case. The Option Agreement was a contract involving many millions of dollars. It does not make any sense that Western Land would have to pursue approval of the plat in the dark, not knowing what changes Jordan Foothills would approve.

To put the shoe on the other foot, it makes no sense that Jordan Foothills could not disapprove design changes required by the City until the Final Plat was approved. To illustrate, Jordan Foothills has repeatedly emphasized, both at trial and in its brief, the time value of its \$1.5 million First Option Payment that Western Land held. If, in the first month after the Option Agreement was executed, the City required design changes which Jordan Foothills did not approve and Jordan Foothills demanded return of its money, it would certainly be nonsensical to interpret the Option Agreement so that Jordan Foothills did not have the right to approve or disapprove until nine months later when the Final Plat was approved by the City and that during the interim Western Land was entitled to keep the money, the time value of which Jordan Foothills argues was \$100,000.00.

In short, Jordan Foothills, through its authorized agent, Glezos, clearly approved the two design changes incorporated into the final plat months before the final plat was approved, as permitted and contemplated by the Option Agreement. Consequently, Jordan Foothills had no right to terminate the agreement and the trial court's finding that Jordan Foothills defaulted under the agreement must stand.

1. In Any Event, Jordan Foothills Approved the Two Design Changes After The City Approved the Final Plat.

Finally, even if it is incorrectly assumed for argument that Jordan Foothills was

somehow precluded from approving the two design changes before approval of the Final Plat, the trial court's findings must still be affirmed.

The undisputed evidence was that after the Final Plat was approved, Glezos stated to Western Land's Diehl and Conant on multiple occasions that the only objection that Jordan Foothills had to the Final Plat was the inclusion of the collapsible soils note on the plat. As the trial court determined, the collapsible soils note was not a design change and did not entitle Jordan Foothills to terminate the agreement. [SOF No. 28.] In this connection, when Jordan Foothills's counsel sent his termination letter to Western Land electing not to proceed with the Option Agreement and demanding return of the \$1.5 million First Option Payment, the only purported change mentioned in the letter was the collapsible soils note on the Final Plat. The letter contained no statement concerning design changes to the plat. [Finding No. 38, R. 671; Exhibit P-6.]

Thus, Jordan Foothills did not elect to terminate the Option Agreement because of the two approved design changes upon which it now attempts to rely. That is not surprising because those two changes benefitted the Property and Jordan Foothills did not put on a scintilla of evidence that the two changes were somehow detrimental. Jordan Foothills therefore had no right to a refund of its money for this additional reason.

//

//

2. The Option Agreement is Not Ambiguous.

Neither party contended below that the Option Agreement is ambiguous. Both parties also agree on appeal that the agreement is not ambiguous. Therefore, the Court need not address Jordan Foothills's alternative argument that in the event the Court determines the agreement is ambiguous, the only extrinsic evidence was presented by Jordan Foothills and that evidence supports Jordan Foothills's position. Nevertheless, this contention is wrong.

The testimony upon which Jordan Foothills relies for its extrinsic evidence argument is Pettit's testimony in response to the question "Why did that language [of paragraph 4(b) of the Option Agreement] make you feel more protected?" Pettit then said why the language that was added to paragraph 4(b) made him feel more protected. He did not testify that he *communicated to Western Land* why he wanted the language in paragraph 4(b) included in the contract or why such a provision made him feel more protected. Of course, Pettit's secret, uncommunicated reason for wanting the right to approve design changes is irrelevant. *See Bushnell Real Estate v. Nielson*, 672 P.2d 746, 749 (Utah 1983) (stating that defendants' "unexpressed intent does not bind the plaintiff").⁶

⁶ Jordan Foothills also argues that the language of the agreement must be interpreted against Western Land as the drafter of the agreement. However, an agreement which is negotiated by the parties is not construed against the drafter. *See, e.g., Morris Silverman Management Corp. v. Western Union Financial Services, Inc.*, 284 F. Supp. 2d 964, 973, n. 3 (N.D. Ill. 2003); *Bristol-Meyers Squibb Co. v. United States*, 48 Fed. Cl. 350, 360-361 (2000). This rule of construction is used only as a last resort in non-negotiated agreements. *Express*

B. JORDAN FOOTHILLS HAS FAILED TO DEMONSTRATE THAT THE TRIAL COURT’S FINDINGS THAT GLEZOS ACTED AS AUTHORIZED AGENT FOR JORDAN FOOTHILLS ARE CLEARLY ERRONEOUS.

The trial court correctly determined that Glezos had express, implied and apparent authority to communicate with Western Land concerning the approval process for the Property on behalf of Jordan Foothills, and specifically to communicate Jordan Foothills’s approval of the changes to the design of the plat of the Property.

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